
into depth in areas which commonly cause the most problems or raise the most

questions. As a result, this reference will also be extremely useful to sailors

serving as judges on a protest committee. The most useful appeals and cases

are quoted or referenced with the discussion of each rule; and each discussion

goes into sufficient depth to provide the answers or at least the guidelines to

resolve most protests or questions which come up. Both competitors and judges

will find the extensive use and reference to the appeals and cases very useful

and timesaving when they are either lodging a protest or trying to resolve one

in the hearing.

NOTE: At the time this book was published, World Sailing had not yet

completed their revisions of their Case Book; therefore the quotes from the

cases may not be 100% accurate. I expect that the substance of the interpre-

tations are accurate, but encourage you to double-check the actual cases. You

can find both the Appeals and the Case books at: ussailing.org/competition/

rules-offiating/appeals. 

I wish to point out that my opinions expressed in this book are my personal

opinions, and not those of the US Sailing Appeals Committee of which I am a

member.

It is nearly impossible to race sailboats without getting involved in some

rules-related situations, whether it’s in a crowded mark rounding, a protest

hearing, a measurement problem, or an appeal. It is my hope that this book,

which blends the rules and the appeals and cases together, will answer most of

your rules questions and expand your knowledge and awareness of what is in

the US Sailing Appeals and World Sailing Cases so that you can continue to

satisfy your own rules curiosity into the future, and feel confident that you in

fact do understand the rules yourself.

This book will be published every four years with the revisions of The Racing

Rules of Sailing. As it is my goal to provide a useful and accurate reference for

all sailors, I welcome your comments and suggestions concerning improvements

and inaccuracies. Please send them to my attention by May 1, 2028, or sooner

at: 239 Barberry Road, Southport, CT 06890.

And now, enjoy your understanding of the rules!

Good Sailing, 

Dave Perry
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“Sounds like there could be some difficult protests involving rule 16.1;

are there any onuses to help resolve these disputes?”

No. In a dispute over whether W kept clear or whether L provided enough

room to keep clear, neither the rules nor the appeals place any “onus” on either

boat. The protest committee will have to determine the facts and use its best

judgment. Remember that a windward boat’s right to “room to keep clear”

under rule 16.1 is a ‘shield’ and not a ‘sword’ for W. Also, to be entitled to

the protection of room, W must respond as soon as she can to L’s change of

course and make a reasonable attempt to get clear. From there it will be up to

the protest committee to decide from the weight of the evidence on (a) the

wind and sea conditions, (b) the nature of the incident and (c) the exact actions

of both boats as to whether or not W had “room to keep clear.” Hails by both

boats at the time will be very helpful in resolving such conflicts and are

strongly encouraged. And to be safe, I always assume that the benefit of any

doubt will go to the right-of-way boat (L), so windward boats should stay

extra clear. Having said that, I always encourage leeward boats never to hit

windward boats because then at least they will not be penalized if the protest

committee finds in favor of the windward boat.

R U L E  1 7  —  O N  T H E  S A M E  T A C K ;  P R O P E R  C O U R S E

If a boat clear astern becomes overlapped within two of her hull lengths to

leeward of a boat on the same tack, she shall not sail above her proper course

while they remain on the same tack and overlapped within that distance, 

unless in doing so she promptly sails astern of the other boat. 

Rule 16.1 (Changing Course) is about limiting how fast a right-of-way boat

can turn near a keep-clear boat; rule 17 is about limiting where a leeward

boat (L) can sail when near a windward boat (W). Note that rule 17 simply

puts a “limit” on where L can sail when near W in certain situations. It does

not shift any right-of-way to W. When near each other, W must remember

that rule 11 (On the Same Tack, Overlapped) requires her to keep clear of L

wherever L is sailing. 

The concept in rule 17 is simple: either L is “limited” to sailing no higher

than her proper course or she is “free” to sail up to head to wind if she pleases;

it is always one or the other for L whenever L and W are overlapped on the

same tack and within two of L’s lengths of each other. 
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Whether L is “limited” or “free” depends on the following four factors: 

1) whether the boats are overlapped on the same tack (note: two boats

sailing downwind on opposite tacks can be overlapped (see the definition

Clear Astern and Clear Ahead; Overlap); but rule 17 does not apply to

them;

2) whether the boats are within two of L’s hull lengths of each other; 

3) whether L became overlapped from clear astern within two of her hull

lengths of W and was on the same tack as W at the time; and

4) whether the starting signal has been made.

A few clarifying points on the four factors listed above:

• When L is not “limited” under rule 17, she is “free” to sail up to head

to wind if she pleases (commonly described as having “luffing rights”),

provided if she changes course she gives W room to keep clear in a sea -

manlike way (rule 16.1, Changing Course). To clarify, even if L is only

overlapped with W by two feet, L can sail up to head to wind. Appeal

17 says, “A boat is head to wind when her bow is facing the wind, and

the centerline of her hull is parallel to it, irrespective of the position of

her sails.” This clarification is helpful because often when a boat is head

to wind her sails will blow momentarily to the other side giving the

illusion that she is past head to wind and therefore subject to rule 13

(While Tacking).

Remember that when L is head to wind, it is quite possible that W will

be required to go beyond head to wind in order to keep clear under

rule 11 (On the Same Tack, Overlapped). If this is the case, W must

do so. If it’s not possible for W to keep clear without fouling other

boats to windward of her, W should clearly alert L that she needs more

room to keep clear (as required by rule 16.1).

• The only time L is “limited” is when she is on the same tack as W and

becomes overlapped to leeward of W from clear astern within two of

her lengths of W. That’s it! The “limit” does not apply when L overlaps

W when more than two lengths apart, or when W becomes overlapped

to windward of L, or when L becomes overlapped to leeward of W on

the opposite tack and then gybes. 

• Note that rule 17 uses the phrase “becomes overlapped.” This means

that any time a boat that was clear astern crosses a line perpendicular

to the clear ahead boat’s centerline drawn through the boat’s aftermost

point in normal position, it is considered that the boat has “become

overlapped” to leeward of the boat that was clear ahead, regardless of

how that line came to be in front of the boat clear astern (see the def-

inition Overlap). So even in the situation where a boat clear astern is

holding her course and a boat clear ahead and to windward turns

down and creates an overlap, it is considered that the leeward boat

has “become overlapped” with the windward boat.

• The “limit” in rule 17 only applies to boats that are “overlapped” on

the same tack. The terms clear ahead, clear astern and overlap apply

to boats on opposite tacks when sailing below beam reaches or when
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Whenever L becomes overlapped to leeward of W from clear astern within two of her
lengths of W, she cannot sail above her proper course while less than that distance apart,
unless she promptly sails astern of W.

rule 18 applies; but rule 17 does not apply to those boats. So when a

starboard-tack boat and a port-tack boat are half way down a down-

wind leg and they are sailing side by side, neither has a proper course

limitation. This also means that if two boats are overlapped on the same

tack and rule 17 applies, and the leeward boat (L) gybes, now the two

boats are on opposite tacks (i.e., they did not “remain” on the same

tack) and rule 17 ceases to apply; and if L gybes back while remaining

overlapped with W, rule 17 does not apply and L has “luffing rights.”

• The “limit” only applies when L and W are within two lengths of each

other. The “two lengths” distance is determined by two of L’s hull

lengths; i.e., the length of L’s hull, and not the additional length of any

bowsprits, overhanging mizzen booms, etc. This is particularly impor-

tant when boats of different sizes are near each other. That means that

if rule 17 applies and the two boats remain overlapped but sail more

than two of L’s lengths apart, rule 17 ceases to apply; and if the two

boats remain overlapped and converge again, rule 17 does not apply

and L has “luffing rights.”

• The “limit” in rule 17 is that L cannot sail above her proper course.

“Above” means on a course higher than the course that will get her to

the next mark as soon as possible. Because a boat does not have a proper

course until the starting signal is made, there is never any “limit” on

1 5 0 U N D E R S T A N D I N G  T H E  R A C I N G  R U L E S  O F  S A I L I N G  T H R O U G H  2 0 2 8

Whenever W becomes overlapped to windward of L, L can turn all the way up to head
to wind for the duration of the overlap, provided she gives W room to keep clear in the
process.

L before her starting signal (see the discussion of definition Proper

Course). Therefore, before the starting signal, L can sail up to head to

wind at all times, regardless of how she became overlapped. 

But at the starting signal, L will be “limited” or “free” depending on how the

overlap began (whenever it began). Note that this applies regardless of whether

the boats have actually started; i.e., have crossed the starting line or not. If

with 20 seconds to go before the starting signal L becomes overlapped from

clear astern within two lengths of W, then at the starting signal L is ”limited”

and must sail no higher than her proper course. If with 20 seconds to go W

overlaps L to windward, then at the starting signal L continues to be “free” to

sail up to head to wind if she pleases. 

“So it sounds like the starting signal is the key moment in time for deter-

mining whether L is ‘limited’ or ‘free;’ and that it is pretty important for

overlapped boats to remember how they first became overlapped as the

starting signal approaches!”

Exactly right. Before the starting signal, L is not “limited” in any way; i.e.,

she can sail up to head to wind if she pleases. But after the starting signal, L

is “limited” to sailing no higher than her proper course if she originally 
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Before the starting signal, even though L becomes overlapped to leeward from clear astern,
she is permitted to sail up to head to wind provided she gives W room to keep clear.
However, after the starting signal, L may not sail above her proper course which, when
sailing to windward, is normally a close-hauled course.

be came overlapped from clear astern. The advantage of having L’s limitation

begin at the starting signal is that it is a precise and predictable moment in time.

And the moment the starting signal is made, L instantly gets a proper

course (see the definition Proper Course). At that moment it is critical for L

and W to remember how they became overlapped! Hails when the overlap

first begins and throughout the overlap are going to be critical for producing

orderly starts and reducing disputes! 

“Do I have to bear away to my proper course before the starting signal

is made; i.e., do I have to anticipate my obligation not to sail above my

proper course after the starting signal?”

No. You do not have a proper course before the starting signal, and therefore

you are not “limited” as to where you can sail. When the starting signal is

made, and if you are now “limited” because you originally became overlapped

from clear astern, you are required to sail no higher than your proper course.

The course you will sail to get to the next mark as soon as possible will include

the course you are on at the moment the starting signal is made. If you must

then bear away to a lower course to get to the next mark as soon as possible,

you must do so immediately. For instance, if you are head to wind before an

upwind start, your proper course will be to bear away to a close-hauled course

or even slightly lower to build speed and sail upwind.

“How does rule 17 work in a Slam Dunk?”
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L is slowly luffing up to a new proper course in order to get to a puff of wind sooner. 
Because she would do that even in the absence of W, she is not sailing above her proper
course, and she is not breaking rule 17; and because she is giving W room to keep clear,
she is not breaking rule 16.1. W must keep clear under rule 11.

Good question! A “Slam Dunk” is an aggressive tactical maneuver used by a

starboard-tack boat (S) on a beat to windward when a port-tack boat (P) is

ducking close astern of her. (A detailed analysis of the Slam Dunk can be

found at the end of this chapter.) Consider two close-hauled boats on opposite

tacks (S and P) converging. P bears away to pass astern of S. When P gets near

S’s stern, S tacks. At some point during S’s tack, P becomes overlapped to lee-

ward of S. Is P “limited” or “free” under rule 17? 

Let’s assume for this discussion that at the moment S passes head to wind,

she is clear ahead of P. Therefore, when P becomes overlapped to leeward of

her, she and S are both on port tack, and rule 17 applies, meaning that P can-

not sail above her proper course, which in the absence of S is a close-hauled

course. In other words, P is “limited” to sailing no higher than a close-hauled

course. Of course, if when S passes head to wind, P is already overlapped to

leeward of her, then P would be “free” under rule 17 to luff up to head to

wind, but she would still need to give S room to keep clear under rule 16.1

(Changing Course).

“What happens in the situation where L and W are both sailing their

proper courses and the two boats are converging; who has to keep clear?”

W must keep clear of L under rule 11 (On the Same Tack, Overlapped). Rule

17 only requires that L not sail above her proper course. As long as L is on

her proper course, she is complying with rule 17. Note that the phrase in rule

17 “her proper course” clarifies that it is L who gets to sail her proper course.
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Because M becomes overlapped to leeward of W from clear astern, she is “limited” to
sailing no higher than her proper course. When L luffs, M is required to keep clear of
her under rule 11. Even in the absence of W, M would luff to keep clear of L. Therefore,
M is not sailing above her proper course and W must keep clear of M under rule 11 and
give her room under rule 19.2(b).

Therefore, when L is sailing on “her” proper course, W must keep clear under

rule 11, even when W’s proper course may be a lower course than L’s. (See

Cases 7 and 14.)

Remember that a proper course is essentially any course a boat chooses to

sail in order to get to the next mark as quickly as possible. Therefore it is pos-

sible that there may be several proper courses at any given moment depending

upon the circumstances involved. It is also obvious that two overlapping boats

sailing for the same mark will converge. Note also that a boat’s proper course

is not necessarily a straight-line course. It can change with changes in the

breeze, current or waves, or with a change in the boat’s strategy (see Case 134

and the discussion of the definition Proper Course). However, whenever L

wants to change her course to a new proper course, she must give W room to

keep clear under rule 16.1 (Changing Course). A hail that she intends to

change course is strongly recommended.

If L is “limited” and W thinks that L is sailing above L’s proper course,

W must still keep clear (rule 11); she can then protest under rule 17. If the two

boats hit, and it were decided by the protest committee that L was sailing above

her proper course, both boats will likely be disqualified: W for failing to keep

clear of L (rule 11), and L for sailing above her proper course (rule 17).

“What happens when L wants to luff two or more boats and one of the

middle boats is subject to rule 17 relative to a boat to windward of her?”

Good question! Let’s take the situation where L and W are sailing down a

reach about two lengths or so apart and L is not “limited” by rule 17. A boat

from astern (M) catches up and becomes overlapped between them. When M
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becomes overlapped on W, W is clearly able to keep clear, so M is complying

with rule 15 (Acquiring Right of Way). And W can give M room to pass L such

that she is entitled to room from W to pass L (rule 19.2(b), Giving Room at an

Obstruction). Now L begins to luff toward M and W. M responds by luffing.

W must keep clear of M under rule 11 (On the Same Tack, Overlapped) and

give her room under rule 19.2(b). And M is not breaking rule 17 because in

fact M is not sailing above her proper course. Here’s the reason. Take the two

boats involved, M and W. M became overlapped on W to leeward from clear

astern. Rule 17 requires M, therefore, not to sail above her proper course. In

determining her proper course, the definition Proper Course instructs us to re-

move the boats referred to in the rule using the term “proper course.” In this

case, rule 17 uses the term and refers to the windward boat W, so we remove

W. As M was sailing a course to keep clear of L, she would have been sailing

the same course in the absence of W; therefore, M was sailing her proper

course and not above it. (See Appeal 4.)

“What’s the purpose of the phrase in rule 17, ‘…unless in doing so she

promptly sails astern of the other boat’?”

This is to close a very subtle, undesirable loophole in the rule. Here’s a poten-

tial scenario: on a run, you sail into leeward of a boat that was clear ahead of

you, but you realize that you won’t be able to sail past them due to their wind

shadow. You want to get out of there but you will have to luff above your

proper course to pass astern of them. No problem. Rule 17 clarifies that you

can certainly luff (i.e., sail above your proper course) provided you promptly

sail astern of W. If you luff and then realize that your bow won’t clear W’s

transom and have to pull your bow back down, you have broken rule 17.

“I thought there was a rule that said you couldn’t sail below your proper

course if you were to windward of another boat or clear ahead of a boat

that was trying to pass you to leeward?”

You are right; there *was*. But it was removed from the rule book entirely in

the 2009–2012 rules. The reason it was removed is that it wasn’t widely

known, it was very difficult to prove a boat was breaking it, and with far fewer

races run on triangular courses (where the rule balanced the game coming

into the gybe mark), the need for the rule is far less.

What that means is that if two boats (W and L) are sailing downwind over-

P A R T  2 ,  S E C T I O N  B :  W H E N  B O A T S  M E E T  —  G E N E R A L  L I M I T A T I O N S 1 5 5

1 5 6 U N D E R S T A N D I N G  T H E  R A C I N G  R U L E S  O F  S A I L I N G  T H R O U G H  2 0 2 8

If Barger tries to squeeze in between the race committee boat and L, and hits L or causes
L to bear off to avoid a collision, Barger breaks rule 11.

lapped, W can sail as low as she pleases in order to more effectively slow L

down by blanketing her wind, as long as she keeps clear of L under rule 11

(On the Same Tack, Overlapped), even if she is sailing below her proper

course. And if one boat (A) is clear ahead of another (B), not only does B need

to keep clear under rule 12 (On the Same Tack, Not Overlapped), but A can

sail as low as she pleases to make it more difficult for B to become overlapped

to leeward and perhaps gain an inside overlap at a mark, even if she is sailing

below her proper course.

Section A and B Rules in Action
Now that we’ve had a thorough explanation, let’s look at how the rules in

Section A and B work in various common situations on the race course. 

S T A R T I N G  M A R K  S I T U A T I O N S  

For the purposes of these following explanations, it will be assumed that the

starting mark is surrounded by navigable water, and that the boats are ap-

proaching the starting mark to start. For a full explanation of the rules at

starting marks, see the discussion of the preamble to Section C (At Marks and

Obstructions) in chapter 9.

U P W I N D  S T A R T S , including a discussion on “barging”

When boats are on their final approach to start, Section C rules (At Marks

and Obstructions) do not apply, meaning that a leeward/outside boat (LO)


